Division One No. 73635-3-I Supreme Court No. 97733-3



## SUPREME COURT

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHERI ROLLINS, an individual,

Petitioner,

VS.

BOMBARDIER RECREATIONAL PRODUCTS, INC., a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

CHERI ROLLINS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Dan'L W. Bridges, WSBA # 24179 McGaughey Bridges Dunlap, PLLC Attorneys for Petitioner 3131 Western Avenue, Suite 410 Seattle, WA 98121 425 462 4000

## ORIGINAL

## **

## A. Identity of Petitioner

Cheri Rollins is the petitioner and was plaintiff below.

## B. Court of Appeals Decision

Ms. Rollins seeks review of Division One's published opinion.

#### C. Overview Of Issue On Review

Division One upheld dismissal based on Federal preemption because of the Federal Boating Safety Act (FBSA). Petitioner brought a claim alleging design negligence of a personal water craft (PWC) for not utilizing a blower. Division One found preemption relying on (1) authority reversed by the US Supreme Court on the specific point Division One relies on, and (2) supposed actions of a Federal agency that create no conflict of law. If this Court does not accept review and reverse, Division One's opinion will stand as a material erosion of State's Rights.

There are two classes of preemption with the latter having three forms: (1) express and (2) implied. Express preemption lays only when state action directly conflicts a Congressional Statute. Implied preemption lays when (i) the federal government so occupies "the field" of regulation no state law may exist; or (ii) an agency passes a Regulation, published in the CFR having force of law and state action conflicts that CFR; or (iii) when the intention of Congress as expressed in law, because it is only a conflict of law

A blower is a fan that pulls fresh air into a compartment creating pressure that expels the air already inside. Effectively, a blower is used to expel explosive vapors from enclosed compartments in boats.

that gives rise to preemption, is frustrated or impeded by state action.

Here, there is no express preemption; there is no Statute in conflict.

Regarding implied preemption, the FBSA does not occupy the field and there is no conflicting CFR. The only CFR regarding blowers requires their use.

Regarding implied preemption over a frustration of Congressional law, the "intention" identified by Division One is not Congress's; if it exists it is the agency's. Worse, it was not even an agency intention expressed by law. If it exists, it is only in a letter. Division One interpreted a letter to mean the agency intended PWCs shall not use blowers and that intention frustrated Congress's intention there be a unified boating standard. However, a letter is not law. Even if that was the agency's intention it does not constitute a conflict of law. Worse, on a factual level there is no evidence what Division One identifies was even the agency's intention. Even worse, what Division One identifies as Congress's intention was the least of three intentions, the more important two are frustrated by preemption here.

To work around all that, Division One cites two 3<sup>rd</sup> Circuit cases asserting they hold any agency action if merely within its authority gives rise to preemption. Division One takes no account those cases were reversed (one explicitly called out by name as reversed) by the US Supreme Court. That case, Wyeth v. Levine, 555 US 555 (2009), was cited by petitoiner but is not even acknowledged by Division One's opinion. Further, although Division

One cites <u>Sprietsma v. Mercury Marine</u>, 537 US 51 (2002) it gives no weight to its holding, specific to the FBSA, that action of this specific agency not an actual Regulation shall not give rise to preemption.

Sprietsma analyzed the FBSA exhaustively, finding Congress' overriding intention was <u>not</u> total uniformity of boating standards – it was safer boating and victim compensation; holding "Congress enacted (it) to improve the safe operation of recreational boats." <u>Id.</u> at 523. <u>Sprietsma</u> said "uniformity is undoubtedly important <u>to the industry</u>," but "the concern with uniformity does not justify the displacement of state common-law remedies that compensate victims and their families and that serve the Act's <u>more prominent objective</u>, <u>emphasized by its title</u>, of <u>promoting boating safety</u>." Id. (underline added).

To further those goals Congress in the FBSA provided the Secretary of Transportation may (not shall) establish minimum (not maximum or comprehensive) safety Regulations in 12 (not all) areas of boat manufacturing. 46 USC 4302. Congress said those Regulations must be Regulations, adopted as law codified in the CFR to have preemptive effect. 46 USC 4306. (No State may "establish... or enforce a law... that is not identical to a Regulation prescribed under section 4302 of this title.") Congress empowered the agency to pass Regulations, e.g., law, prohibiting

It is undisputed BRP's PWC is a "boat" under the FBSA. PWCs, this one included, are nothing like stand up jet skis. These are substantial, hulled watercraft.

equipment if necessary for safety. Congress enacted a Savings Clause preserving state liability if it did not conflict a <u>Regulation</u> under the FBSA.

The APA applies to all agencies requiring a process of public notice, hearings, and codification of Regulations in the CFR before they are Regulation with force of law. The USCG under the FBSA is no different. However, an additional process was imposed by the Secretary when it delegated its roll to the US Coast Guard (USCG). The USCG must also vette all proposed Regulations through the National Boating Safety Advisory Council, created under the FBSA mandating specific participants. Sprietsma, 537 US at 57-58 and 49 CFR 1.46(n)(1) (1997).

It is critical to not ignore the difference between a Regulation in the CFR and mere agency action that may direct (in lay terms, regulate) behavior. Division One lost sight of that by its citing cases holding only Regulation by an agency may be the basis of preemption but then asserting any act that merely effects (regulates) behavior is Regulation.<sup>3</sup> Regulation with a capital "R" is not the same as an agency act that may regulate with a little "r." At all times in the FBSA and case law, when the word Regulation is used what is intended is a Regulation, published in the CFR.

If the FBSA and USCG occupied the entire field of regulation, it might be said mere agency action, e.g., regulation with a little "r" short of Regulation in the CFR, may give rise to preemption. However, the Supreme Court in <u>Sprietsma</u> explicitly held the USCG and FBSA do not occupy the field of Regulation. Thus, the context of Cheri's argument assumes, as is true here, an area of Regulation not occupying the field and what is relied on for preemption is implied conflict preemption via conflict with an actual CFR or the intention of Congress.

This case arises out of a Personal Water Craft (PWC), designed and manufactured by respondent Bombardier (BRP) that exploded when petitioner Cheri Rollins started it. An electrical arc occurred when she engaged the starter, igniting gas vapors in the sealed hull. Mechanical ventilation (a blower) would have evacuated the vapors, preventing the explosion. Bombardier did not equip the PWC with a blower. Cheri alleges that constitutes design negligence and seeks to hold BRP accountable for not utilizing a blower in the design of any of its PWCs. Their presence would make PWCs and the boating public substantially safer.<sup>4</sup>

A FBSA Regulation requires blowers in all watercraft, including PWCs. 33 CFR 183.610. State liability for the lack of a blower contradicts no Congressional Statute or Agency Regulation – it is consistent with it. Albeit, Cheri does not rely on a violation of the FBSA. She asserted a basic tort claim for design negligence under the Products Liability Act.<sup>5</sup>

BRP has historically asserted blowers are impractical and unnecessary given PWCs are completely sealed. That factual dispute is not before this Court nor is its merit relevant to the question of preemption. But for context, Cheri's expert in detail explains how the use of a blower could be easily achieved, cost essentially nothing if integrated in the manufacturing process, and would result in much safer PWCs. It is undisputed many PWCs explode every year in the circumstance here. It is suggested at some time in the future BRP's failure to integrate blowers will be looked back on like the original failure to equip cars with seatbelts – and if not that, a design flaw little different than exploding Pintos. For want of spending maybe a dollar or two more, the risk of explosions could be all but completely eliminated.

Washington adopted the Model Uniform Product Liability Act subsuming all common law remedies. RCW 7.72.010(4). That codification of common law does not obviate the character of the claim. The Act's intention was to "eliminate" "confusion" over the variety of negligence and warranty claims "available to the plaintiff seeking recovery" and create "a single cause of action." Washington Water

Congress allowed exemptions from FBSA Regulation to be granted. That may be done by agency letter without public process. BRP asked for a letter exempting its compliance with 33 CFR 183.610 requiring a blower. The USCG provided the letter but passed no Regulation prohibiting blowers on PWCs; its exemption letter does not prohibit them, it only says BRP need not comply with the Regulation. BRP is at its will to use blowers if it wishes.

Division One found preemption based only on BRP's exemption letter, using it to springboard to its conclusion liability for not having one frustrates <u>Congress'</u> intent. Division One held uniformity of boating standards was Congress's paramount goal and the exemption letter proved <u>the USCG's intention</u> PWCs not use blowers. That has several fundamental flaws as a basis to find preemption, the effect of which renders the high standard of preemption almost meaningless.

First, <u>Sprietsma</u> and every case that is good law are clear it is only frustration <u>of Congress's</u> goals stated by Statute that give rise to implied conflict preemption – not an agency's actions where it does not occupy the field of regulation. Even if the exemption letter can be read as the USCG's goal, an agency's bureaucratic goal does not displace all 50 State's Rights.

Second, although uniformity was one of three goals, <u>Sprietsma</u> held it was last and "yields" to the primary goals of boating safety and victim

<u>Power Co. v Graybar Elec. Co.</u>, 112 Wn.2d 847, 853-854 (1989). When <u>Sprietsma</u> discusses Congress's intention to not preempt state tort claims arising out of boats it is precisely the claim Cheri's brings here. Codification does not alter its character.

compensation. Division One finding uniformity for the sake of uniformity the primary goal when the Supreme Court held it is not, will kill every avenue of state remedy any time there is federal involvement because states' laws always differ. It also stands on the rejected notion a desire for uniformity means any deviation must be squashed like a bug. For years California had higher standards on automobile emissions despite the EPA issuing minimum standards (the FBSA is a minimum standard) and over time, California pushed Congress to a better standard.<sup>6</sup> Having a differing manufacturing standard is not the end of the world and at times can be a huge force for good.

Most importantly, even if uniformity was <u>a</u> goal, Division One found preemption to not "frustrate" that goal while ignoring the Supreme Court in <u>Sprietsma</u> held "boating safety" and "victim compensation" were higher goals. <u>Id</u>. It stands the concept of implied preemption on its head to find it because a lesser goal is "frustrated," while trampling over the bodies of <u>higher</u> Congressional goals in order to do so. If anything, Division One's opinion and preemption stand as the frustration of Congress's primary goals.

Finally third, on a factual level Division One is wrong. There is no evidence the USCG intended PWCs shall not use blowers. If that was the intention, the FBSA required the USCG to pass a Regulation prohibiting their

At times this is referred to the laboratory of democracy. <u>Sprietsma</u> speaks to it, discussing the value of States having some degree of flexibility to find a better standard not only for its own citizens but to perhaps solve a problem that before had been unsolved. Again, no differently than California on car emissions.

use on PWCs. It has not. The letter exemption leaves it to BRP to decide. On this <u>Sprietsma</u> is on point explaining the USCG's decision to leave it to manufacturers to explore whether a piece of equipment "should have been installed on this particular kind of boat" does not imply preemption of "the states and their political subdivisions... imposing some version" of such a requirement. <u>Sprietsma</u>, 537 US at and 67 and 52.

"There is a strong presumption against finding (implied) preemption in an ambiguous case, and the burden of proof is on the party claiming preemption." Id. Here, that is BRP.

#### D. Issues Presented For Review

When an agency does not occupy the field of Regulation, Whether its action short of Regulation preempts all States' Rights when Congress did not convey that authority.

Whether BRP's letter may give rise to preemption when state liability conflicts no law and does not frustrate the will of Congress as expressed by Congress itself.

#### E. Facts

On August 1, 2009 a BRP manufactured PWC without a blower exploded when Cheri started it. CP 534, 53, 596, 601, 163. A blower would have prevented the explosion and made all PWCs and the boating public that much safer. CP 597-602. BRP does not put blowers on any PWC. CP 598. BRP asked for a letter exempting it from the FBSA Regulation requiring them on all watercraft. CP 300-301. The USCG gave

the letter but has passed no Regulation regarding blowers on PWCs. Its BRP letter was not adopted as a Regulation, published in the CFR.

### F. Authority And Argument

#### 1. THE CRITERIA TO ACCEPT REVIEW

Division One's decision:

- (1) ...is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, (both State and US Supreme Court);
- (2) ...is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; and
- (4) ...involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

# 2. DIVISION ONE ELEVATES BUREAUCRACTIC ACTION TO LAW AND FUNDAMENTALLY CHANGES THE LAW ON PREEMPTION

The bedrock upon which preemption lays is the Constitutional Framers' promise State autonomy will yield to Federal Supremacy only in the limited circumstance of an actual conflict of law. Wyeth, 555 US at 565. That must be so because "respect for the State as independent sovereigns in our federal system leads us to assume that Congress does not cavalierly preempt state law causes of action." Id. See also Stevedoring Services of America v. Eggert, 129 Wn.2d 17, 24 (1996). That standard guarantees at some level, even when conflict is implied, the public vetting, public representation, and due process our Constitution requires. Any less makes all

50 States subservient to the unilateral actions of distant Federal employees.

There are three forms of preemption:

(1) express preemption where Congress explicitly preempts state law; (2) implied preemption where Congress has occupied the entire field (field preemption); and (3) implied preemption where there is an actual conflict between federal and state law (conflict preemption).

Gracia v. Volvo Europa Truck, N.V., 112 F.3d 291, 294 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997) (internal citations omitted, parenthesis in original). See also Inlandboatman's Union v. DOT, 119 Wn.2d 697, 701 (1992).

Here, there is no Statute conflicting State liability. Congress in the FBSA did not "explicitly preempt" all state law. Sprietsma, 537 US at 57, 42 USC 4302. Division One did not find it. Also, the USCG and FBSA do not occupy the field of boat regulation. Sprietsma, 537 US at 65. Division One did not find it. If preemption is to exist it can only be "implied."

"Implied preemption" can happen in one of two completely different ways that should not be confused with each other:

Even if Congress has not occupied an entire field, preemption may occur to the extent that state and federal law actually conflict. Such a conflict occurs (1) when compliance with both laws is physically impossible, or (2) when a state law stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress.

<u>Inlandboatmen's</u>, 119 Wn.2d at 702. The first occurs when there is a conflict in-fact with a Regulation (CFR). <u>Id</u>. If arising out of a statue (USC) preemption is "express." Neither exists here.

Division One found preemption via the second, finding liability for no blower is "an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purpose of Congress" (opinion, p. 3) based on the assertion (1) Congress' overriding FBSA purpose was total uniformity of boating standards and (2) the USCG – not Congress – expressed an intention PWCs not have blowers. Division One reasoned that because the USCG issued its letter under authority it had to issue it, that was conflict sufficent to support preemption.<sup>7</sup>

Division One errs. As cited in the overview, Congress' overriding intention was boating safety and compensation; uniformity was primarily an "industry concern" Congress saw a distant third. But worse, and what should be of greater concern to this Court, even if uniformity is considered, the sole source of Division One's finding a lack of it was not a Statute passed by Congress nor even a CFR, but instead a mere letter written by an agency.

When preemption is implied based on a supposed frustration of the intention of Congress, it is only a frustration of Congress expressed by Congress that will do. <u>Inlandboatmen's</u> said that explicitly cited above, which is itself Federal authority word for word from <u>Sprietsma</u>. 537 US at 54. No authority holds preemption arises because the will or intention of an

Division One asserts at p. 6 liability for no blower would "impede the purpose of the FBSA" because it "negate(s) the Coast Guard's authority to grant exemptions." That turns the FBSA on its head. The purpose is safe boating, victim compensation and finally some level of consistency the desire for which shall yield to safety and compensation. The purpose of the FBSA is not to give exemptions from it. Also, there is a difference between the USCG exempting BRP from the Regulatory requirement of a blower and (1) that means BRP is barred from using one and (2) has immunity for not doing so. Nothing in the FBSA may be read to support that.

agency alone may be frustrated. <u>See also Stevedoring</u>, explaining "Congress' intent may be explicitly stated in the statute's language or implicitly contained in its (the statute's) structure and purpose." 129 Wn.2d at 24. <u>See also Wyeth</u>, infra, rejecting an agency can unilaterally declare its own intention of preemption without support by Congress, expressly stated in Statute. <u>Wyeth</u>, 555 US at 577.

To get around that, Division One cites the case of <u>Fellner v. Tri-Union Seafoods</u>, <u>LLC</u>, 539 F.3d 237, 277 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 2008) as support arguing it held "federal action short of formal, notice and comment rulemaking may also have preemptive effect." (opinion, p. 6). It also cites directly <u>Colacicco v. Apotex, Inc.</u>, 521 F.3d 253, 271 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 2008).

Inexplicably, Division One ignores both were reversed on exactly the proposition it cites them for by <u>Wyeth</u>. Worse, <u>Wyeth</u> did so with essentially the identical procedural setting of this case. <u>See</u> 129 S.Ct. 1578 (2009).

In <u>Wyeth</u> a drug manufacturer was sued under state product liability law for inadequate warnings. 555 US at 561. The manufacturer argued the claim was preempted because the warning's content was Ordered by the FDA in accord with Statute directing it to issue Orders and could not be changed without the FDA's express consent. <u>Id</u>. at 560. The manufacturer showed the label resulted from over "17 years" of FDA Orders it complied with. <u>Id</u>.

Exactly as Division One held, the manufacturer argued and the

Circuit Court held in <u>Wyeth</u> state liability conflicting agency action created "an unacceptable obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress" because Congress intended the FDA to enforce warning labels and state action contrary to that administrative action frustrated the will of Congress.

Wyeth rejected the argument, overruling the portion of Colacicco cited by Fellner that was cited and relied on by Division One and held agency action standing alone, even if authorized by Congress, does not give rise to preemption. BRP had a letter it asked for excusing it from using blowers but not prohibiting their use. In Wyeth the manufacturer was Ordered by the FDA on the exact content of its warning because a Statute passed by Congress told the FDA to do so. Wyeth's Order is a stronger 'action' than BRP's letter. Yet, the concept Division One uses to support its opinion was rejected; only a conflict of law gives rise to preemption. See Wyeth.

\_

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