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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. Petitioner Has Not Met the Standards for Review Under 
RAP 13.4(b ). 

As noted, Petitioner has simply reargued the merits of her case 

below. The essence of her Petition for Review is that the Court of 

Appeals "got it wrong." RAP 13.4(b) is clear that "A petition for review 

will be accepted by the Washington Supreme Court only:" 
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(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 
decision of the [Washington] Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 
another decision of the [Washington] Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the 
State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or 

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest 
that should be determined by the [Washington] Supreme Court. 

(emphasis added). Petitioner summarily invokes standards (1), (2) and 

(4), but does not explain why these rules support review. 

1. The Court of Appeals Decision is Not in Conflict With Any 
of This Court's Precedents; Review is Unwarranted Under 
RAP 13.4(b)(l) 

Petitioner misstates the standard under RAP 13.4(b)(l), asserting 

that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of both the 

State and U.S. Supreme Court. First, conflict with a U.S. Supreme Court 

decision is not a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(l). Second, 

Petitioner does not identify any decision from this' Court with which the 

Court of Appeals decision conflicts. This alone is grounds for denial of 

review under RAP 13.4(b)(l). 

Moreover, the Supreme Court decisions discussed by Petitioner-

Wyeth v. Levine, 555 U.S. 555, 129 S.Ct. 1187, 173 L.Ed.2d 51 (2009) and 

Sprietsma v. Mercury Marine, 537 U.S. 51, 123 S.Ct. 518, 154 L.Ed.2d 

466 (2002)-are inapposite and distinguishable-they are not in.conflict. 
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a. Wyeth is Inapposite and Does Not Conflict With the Court of 
Appeals Decision. 

Petitioner failed to even cite Wyeth in her Appellate Opening Brief, 

raising it for the first time in her Reply brief. Wyeth involved an entirely 

different Congressional intent manifested through an entirely different 

statute and regulatory scheme-the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act 

("FDCA"), 21 U.S.C. § 301 et seq.-for an entirely different 

administrative agency-the FDA-in an entirely different and unrelated 

context-prescription drugs. The "purpose of Congress" is "the ultimate 

touchstone of pre~emption analysis." Cipollone v. Liggett Grp. Inc., 505 

U.S. 504, 517, 112 S.Ct. 2608, 120 L.Ed.2d 407 (1992). Congressional 

intent begins and ends with the relevant Congressional Act at issue. In 

Wyeth, the preemption determination turned on application of the FDCA 

to the unique facts of that case. Here, preemption was determined based 

on the FBSA as applied to the facts below. 

The Wyeth Court's analysis of the FDCA and of the FDA's 

preemptive power under that statute as applied to prescription drugs is not 

relevant to the Court of Appeals's application of the FBSA and the 

regulatory authority granted to the Coast Guard through the FBSA 

pertaining to PWC design and the official Exemption relative to powered 

ventilation. The Court of Appeals rightly ignored Wyeth in its decision, 

just as this Court should. 

Wyeth and this case present different preemption universes as they 

derive from different Congressional Acts. The FDCA in Wyeth, unlike the 
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FBSA, did not even contain an express preemption provision for 

prescription drugs. See 555 U.S. at 574. Nor did Wyeth involve statutory 

Exemptions emanating directly from the operative Act, as in this case with 

the FBSA. Likewise, nowhere in Wyeth is there any express delegation by 

Congress through the FDCA to the FDA of a flexible regulatory authority 

empowering the agency to create both statutory and non-statutory 

regulations, standards and requirements with the force of law, as exists in 

the FBSA. 

These critical differences, as well as the entirely different factual 

contexts between Wyeth and the Court of Appeals decision, render Wyeth 

of little significance to the Court of Appeals's analysis of the FBSA in this 

case. But more importantly, these differences highlight the lack of any 

conflict between the two decisions that would support review. 

In her discussion of Wyeth, Petitioner takes strong issue with the 

Court of Appeals's citations to Fellner v. Tri-Union Seafoods, LLC, 539 

F.3d 237 (3rd Cir. 2008) and Colacicco v. Apotex, Inc., 521 F.3d 253 (3rd 

Cir. 2008), vacated and remanded, 556 U.S. 1101 (2009). As noted by the 

Court of Appeals, Fellner, in discussing what constituted federal law that 

could preempt contrary state law, specifically acknowledged that "federal 

agency action taken pursuant to statutorily granted authority short of 

formal, notice and comment rulemaking may also have preemptive effect 

over state law." 539 F.3d at 244 (citing Colacicco, 521 F.3d at 271 

("Although preemption is commonly thought of in terms of statutes and 

regulations, a federal agency's action taken pursuant to statutorily granted 
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authority may also have preemptive effect over state law.")) (Emphasis 

added.) Petitioner erroneously asserts that both Fellner and Colacicco 

were reversed by Wyeth on the exact legal propositions noted above and 

on essentially the identical procedural setting of this case. Petition for 

Review at 12. 

Fellner remains good law for every proposition contained in its 

opinion, including that federal agency action pursuant to statutorily 

granted authority short of formal, notice and comment rulemaking carries 

preemptive power. Petitioner cites nothing to indicate Fellner was 

reversed, and the decision continues to be cited by other courts without 

qualification. Moreover, while the U.S. Supreme Court vacated the 

judgment in Colacicco in light of Wyeth, the groun.ds for vacation were 

not specified. The Supreme Court simply remanded the case to the Third 

Circuit "for further consideration in light of Wyeth v. Levine .... " 

Colacicco v. Apotex, Inc., 556 U.S. 1101 (2009). The instruction to apply 

the Wyeth analysis says nothing about the vitality of the Fellner court's 

reference to a portion of its earlier decision in Colacicco. Although the 

Colacicco judgment was vacated, there was nothing in the Wyeth opinion 

which reversed any relevant proposition in Colacicco-the instructions 

were simply to reconsider the case in light of Wyeth. Regardless, Fellner, 

and its specific citation to Colacicco, remains good law. Had Colacicco 
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been reversed on the specific grounds that Petitioner claims, cases that 

continue to apply Fellner would likely have limited its application.5 

Consistent with Fellner, and as recognized by the Court of Appeals, 

the Coast Guard's federal agency action (i.e., the official Exemption) 

undertaken pursuant to statutorily granted authority (46 U.S.C. § 4305) 

constitutes ~ federal standard for PWC design and has preemptive effect 

over Petitioner's state law claim. Petitioner's blind insistence that only 

positive laws, passed through the rulemaking process, can have 

preemptive effect ignores not only Fellner and similar holdings cited 

below, but also Congress's explicit intent in granting the Coast Guard 

flexible regulatory power to establish both statutory and non-statutory 

5 As for the substance of Wyeth, Petitioner's reliance is misplaced. In Wyeth, the 
warnings on the defendant manufacturer's drug were deemed sufficient by the FDA when 
it approved the manufacturer's new drug application in 1955 and when it later approved 
changes in the drug's labeling. 555 U.S. at 558. The issue before the Supreme Court was 
whether the FDA's drug labeling judgments "preempt[ed] state law product liability 
claims premised on the theory that different labeling judgments were necessary to make 
drugs reasonably safe for use." !d. at 563. Rejecting Wyeth's preemption arguments, the 
Supreme Court held it was not impossible for Wyeth to comply with both federal and 
state labeling requirements because an FDA regulation existed that allowed Wyeth to 
unilaterally strengthen its warning without FDA approval; and the state suit did not 
conflict with Congress' objectives because it had never even enacted an express 
preemption provision for prescription drugs in the FDCA' s 70-year history. !d. at 563-
74. The Court held this, coupled with its awareness of the longstanding prevalence of 
state tort litigation, evidenced that Congress did not intend FDA oversight to be the 
exclusive means of ensuring drug safety and effectiveness. !d. at 575 

Here, however, as recognized by the Court of Appeals, it would be impossible 
for BRP to comply with both the Coast Guard's federal standard of no powered 
ventilation for PWCs and Petitioner's attempted state standard to require powered 
ventilation for PWCs. Additionally, Petitioner's state claim directly conflicted with the 
Coast Guard's federal "no powered ventilation" safety standard for PWCs promulgated 
under the FBSA, and thus undermines "the accomplishment and execution of the full 
purposes and objectives of Congress" because it would subject manufacturers to varying 
standards across the fifty states. 
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standards with the force of law relative to boat and PWC design to ensure 

uniform safety design standards among the States. 46 U.S.C. § 4302 and 

Official Notes. Such flexibility is essential to administrative agency 

function. See SEC v. Chenery Corp., 332 U.S. 194, 67 S.Ct. 1575, 91 

L.Ed. 1995 (1947).6 

b. Sprietsma is Both Legally and Factually Distinguishable and 
Creates No Conflict With the Court of Appeals Decision. 

As she did below, Petitioner continues to misconstrue Sprietsma, 

which addressed implied preemption under the FBSA. In Sprietsma, an 

6 In Chene1y, the U.S. Supreme Court upheld the authority of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) to formulate a new rule or standard of conduct governing 
issues before it, even though the agency could have promulgated such a rule through a 
rule-making proceeding. 332 U.S. at 197-201. In discussing the flexibility essential to 
administrative agency function, the court held: 

Any rigid requirement that [general rules must be promulgated to have the force 
of law] would make the administrative process int1exible and incapable of 
dealing with many of the specialized problems which arise. Not every principle 
essential to. the effective administration of a statute can or should be cast 
immediately into the mold of a general rule. Some principles must await their 
own development, while others must be adjusted to meet particular, 
unforeseeable situations. !d. at 202. 

*** 
In other words, problems may arise in each case which the administrative 
agency could not reasonably foresee, problems which must be solved despite the 
absence of a relevant general rule. Or the agency may not have had sufficient 
experience with a particular problem to warrant rigidifying its tentative 
judgment into a hard and fast rule. Or the problem may be so specialized and 
varying in nature as to be impossible of capture within the boundaries of a 
general rule. !d. at 203 

This rationale aptly applies here and highlights Congress's wisdom and foresight 
in granting the Coast Guard f1exible legal authority relative to boat and PWC design: the 
Coast Guard acknowledged that when the powered ventilation regulations were 
promulgated, it did not consider vessels such as PWCs that had a tendency to capsize and 
would ingest water into blower intakes. CP 1747. Nor did the regulations specify blower 
capacities appropriate for the minimal net compartment volumes of PWCs. !d. 
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individual died after being struck by a boat propeller. 537 U.S. at 54. The 

decedent's husband filed suit on state law theories, alleging that the motor 

should have been protected by a propeller guard. /d. at 55. Notably, the 

Coast Guard had previously decided, after testing and consultation, not to 

take any regulatory action whatsoever concerning the use of propeller 

guards. /d. at 61. The Court noted this decision "[did] not convey an 

'authoritative' message of federal policy ... " !d. at 67. 

While the Court held that the Coast Guard's decision to forego 

regulation of propeller guards on boats did not impliedly preempt state 

common law claims, its decision was based solely on the Coast Guard's 

calculated decision not to regulate at all. /d. at 65. Dispositive to the 

Sprietsma court was that plaintiff's state common law claims related "to 

an area not yet subject to federal regulation;" thus, there was no conflict. 

!d. at 65~66. 

In contrast, here the Court of Appeals found preemption because 

the Coast Guard has extensively regulated the area of ventilation for boats 

and PWCs and has, since 1988, granted the statutorily authorized 

Exemption to BRP (and all other PWC manufactures) from the powered 

ventilation regulations pursuant to its flexible regulatory authority. This 

has set the federal design standard for PWCs-that they must be designed 

without powered ventilation. Given the Coast Guard's active regulation in 

the ventilation area, the States are not allowed to regulate differently in 

this particular design area. 

13 



In light of the significant differences between the Coast Guard's 

lack of any regulation for propeller guards in Sprietsma and the 

longstanding extensive regulation of ventilation systems in this case, there 

is no conflict between Sprietsma and the Court of Appeals decision. The 

decisions are entirely consistent. 

2. The Court of Appeals Decision is Not in Conflict with 
Another Decision of the Court of Appeals; Review is 
Unwarranted Under RAP 13.4(b )(2) 

Though Petitioner maintains the Court of Appeals decision is in 

conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals, she does not 

identify the conflicting decision, nor demonstrate any conflict with, or 

misapplication of, another decision by the Court of Appeals. 

The only Washington Court of Appeals decision discussed in the 

Petition is Becker v. U.S. Marine Co, 88 Wn. App. 103, 943 P.2d 700 

(1997). In portions of three short paragraphs Petitioner points out that 

Becker was decided in 1997 prior both to Wyeth and Sprietsma, and is thus 

secondary to those cases. Petition at 17-18. She maintains that the Court 

of Appeals "stretches Becker beyond its actual holding and conflicts with 

its own opinion," but never explains the "stretch" or the "conflict." 

For the same reasons discussed with respect to Sprietsma above, 

Becker does not conflict in any way with the Court of Appeals decision

they are entirely consistent. Indeed, the analyses for Becker and Sprietsma 

and nearly identical. 
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Becker involved state law product liability claims against a boat 

manufacturer for, among other things, its failure to design the bow seating 

area with safety devices such as handrails to prevent passengers from 
I 

being thrown out of the boat. 88 Wn. App. at 104-05. As in Sprietsma, 

the Coast Guard had never promulgated (or even considered 

promulgating) any regulations related to handrails or bow seat design. !d. 

at 110. The Becker court considered whether the Coast Guard had made 

an "explicit decision to either adopt a particular standard or to leave the 

feature or structure unregulated." !d. The Court decided plaintiff's tort 

claim was not preempted "[b]ecause the Coast Guard [had] not formally 

considered, evaluated and rejected regulation of bow seating design, 

including handrails .... " !d. at 112. 

In Becker (like Sprietsma), because the Coast Guard had ~ 

regulated (or even considered regulating) the area of bow seat design, this 

State was permitted to weigh in on this design area. In contrast here, 

given the Coast Guard's longstanding regulation of ventilation for boats 

and PWCs, states cannot regulate differently in this design area without 

creating a conflict between the federal and state standards. To hold 

otherwise would create an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution 

of Congress' objectives of establishing uniformity in manufacturing 

regulations and avoiding unworkable and unidentical special requirements 
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of the individual states. 88 Wn. App. at 108. (discussing one of FBSA's 

purposes is to provide uniformity in boating safety).7 

Like Spriestma, Becker does not conflict with the Court of Appeals 

decision here. Rather, the opinions are entirely consistent and represent a 

correct application of the law based on the different facts and 

circumstances at issue in the respective cases. 

3. The Court of Appeals' Preemption Analysis Under the 
Federal Boat Safety Act (FBSA) Does Not Involve an Issue of 
Substantial Public Importance; Review is Unwarranted under 
RAP 13.4(b )( 4 ). 

Petitioner summarily concludes that Division One's decision 

involves an issue of substantial public importance that should be 

determined by this Court. Petition at 9. Other than this statement, 

however, she does identify any issues that constitute substantial public

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